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COUNTDOWN: 247 DAYS


August 27, 2010

Langley, Virginia

Leon Panetta was speechless. It was almost too perfect. A top Central Intelligence Agency operations officer had just told him about a “fortress,” a three-story house at the end of a dead-end street in an upscale neighborhood in Abbottabad, Pakistan. Panetta fought back a wave of hope and excitement. He didn’t want to share his optimism with anyone else in the room. Not a smile. Not a high five. Not yet.

As director of the CIA, one of the key parts of Panetta’s job was protecting the United States from foreign terrorist attacks. That meant overseeing teams of operators, analysts, and agents working all over the world, many of them in dangerous hot spots in the Middle East, South Asia, and Africa. Every piece of information that crossed Panetta’s desk had to be carefully vetted before he passed it on to his boss, President Barack Obama. But it was hard not to be enthusiastic about this tip. After all, this house might be the hideout for the world’s most dangerous terrorist, a man who had all but dropped off the face of the earth: Osama bin Laden.

Panetta took a few deep breaths. As he worked to keep his emotions in check, he realized that so much had changed so quickly. Just a half hour earlier, he had been wrapping up a routine meeting. Every Monday, Wednesday, and Friday, some thirty intelligence analysts, experts, and case officers from the Counterterrorism Center would jam into a conference room down the hall from Panetta’s office at CIA headquarters in Langley, Virginia.

Like clockwork, the sessions would start at 4:30 p.m. and last more than ninety minutes. During the meetings, the team would update Panetta about the latest issues in the Middle East, problems that could ultimately threaten the security of the United States and its allies. They’d routinely jump from topic to topic—and today’s session had been no different. They discussed new developments in the war-torn nations of Iraq and Afghanistan. They talked about the dangerous role the notorious terrorist group Al Qaeda was still playing in both countries.

Maybe it was because it was late on a Friday afternoon in the waning days of summer, but this session seemed to drag on and on. So, when the meeting was over, the analysts, operators, and experts jumped up from their chairs and began filing out of the conference room. But as they grabbed their briefcases and papers, three men approached Panetta, Michael Morell, the CIA’s deputy director, and Jeremy Bash, the spy agency’s chief of staff.

“We need to see you alone,” one of the men, Mike, the director of the Counterterrorism Center, said to them. That was a first.

Panetta could sense something was up from Mike’s language and tone. If someone wanted to talk to Panetta or a deputy after a meeting, they’d casually ask, “Can we go small?” But Mike and two well-respected colleagues, Gary, the head of the Center’s Pakistan-Afghanistan Department (PAD), and Sam, the agency’s leading expert on Al Qaeda, were not feeling casual. Panetta could tell from the look on their faces. If they requested a private meeting, it had to be important.

“Why don’t we go back to my office,” Panetta said.

The group followed him out of the conference room and into the hallway. After a few steps, they reached one of the doors leading to the director’s office. Panetta opened it, revealing a larger room with dark brown wood paneling and a wide window that stretched the length of the back wall, letting in natural light. Outside was a view of the Virginia woods below.

Panetta’s desk was pushed up against a wall on one side of the room. Above it was a tattered American flag in a frame, hung there by his predecessor. The flag came from the World Trade Center. For Panetta, it served as a daily reminder of 9/11, its victims, and the hunt for bin Laden. On the opposite side of the room was a conference table, chairs, and a television mounted on the wall above. That was usually where Panetta held meetings with dignitaries and foreign guests. But this afternoon, it was where Panetta would hold the impromptu session with his colleagues.

Panetta sat at the head of the conference table, while Morell grabbed his usual chair at the other end. When everyone was seated, the three men wasted no time. They disclosed details about a courier they believed had close ties to Al Qaeda.

“We’ve found this guy named Abu Ahmed al-Kuwaiti,” Mike said.

Panetta shrugged. He’d never heard of him. He looked over at Morell and Bash and could tell they hadn’t either. So Mike, Gary, a case officer, and Sam, an analyst, took turns recounting the history of al-Kuwaiti—the new lead that had taken almost a decade to develop.

The trail went back to shortly after September 11, 2001—the day nineteen men hijacked four planes and carried out the worst terrorist attack in U.S. history. The terrorists flew two of the planes into the Twin Towers of the World Trade Center in New York City. A third plane hit the Pentagon just outside of Washington, D.C. A fourth crashed in a field in Shanksville, Pennsylvania. All told, almost 3,000 people were killed, including 2,606 when the Twin Towers collapsed.

The United States quickly traced the attacks to Al Qaeda, a terrorist group founded by Osama bin Laden, a sullen, bearded, rifle-toting Islamic revolutionary who had set up training camps in Afghanistan, a nation controlled by religious extremists known as the Taliban.

Hours after the towers collapsed, President George W. Bush promised the nation in a televised address that America would take the fight to Al Qaeda. Less than a month later, a U.S.-led coalition launched Operation Enduring Freedom, a military offensive aimed at killing bin Laden, his terrorist followers, and dismantling the Taliban government, which had been supporting and protecting Al Qaeda for years.
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With coalition forces on the ground, bin Laden and his allies fled to Tora Bora, a remote mountainous area in eastern Afghanistan near the Pakistan border. U.S. Special Forces thought he was trapped in a cave. After a five-day battle, they took Tora Bora in December 2001. But when the smoke cleared, bin Laden was gone. He had disappeared.

For nine years, Al Qaeda’s leader remained an elusive figure, always just beyond the grasp of his pursuers. Was he in eastern Afghanistan? Maybe Pakistan, plotting new attacks? Or in Saudi Arabia, where he was born? No one knew for sure.

But then they got a lead from an unlikely source, Gary said.

Since the invasion of Afghanistan, the U.S. had been interrogating Al Qaeda prisoners at both the U.S. Navy prison at Guantánamo Bay, Cuba, and CIA secret prisons. Sometimes they’d use interrogation techniques that many critics called torture, such as waterboarding, to get information. Interrogators would often ask detainees about Al Qaeda members who served as couriers.

Gary said analysts believed bin Laden was too smart to let Al Qaeda senior commanders know where his hideout was. So if he wanted to get his messages out, somebody had to carry them—someone whom bin Laden would trust with his life.

During interrogations, one name kept coming up: Abu Ahmed al-Kuwaiti. Some detainees claimed he was an important courier with close ties to bin Laden. But others downplayed al-Kuwaiti’s significance.

With Khalid Sheikh Mohammed, the architect of the 9/11 attacks, interrogators waterboarded him 183 times, making sure he was in a “compliant state,” before asking him about al-Kuwaiti. He said, yes, he knew him, but denied al-Kuwaiti was a courier. And he said al-Kuwaiti had left Al Qaeda after 9/11.

But KSM didn’t know the prison was bugged. So when he returned to his cell, interrogators heard him issue a warning to the other prisoners: Don’t mention “the courier.” Another prominent Al Qaeda member said he didn’t know al-Kuwaiti, then volunteered the name of a courier he said was working for bin Laden. Interrogators later concluded the name he had given them was fictitious. Gary said the misinformation only reinforced their belief that al-Kuwaiti was important to the terrorist group. Otherwise, why would they be protecting him?

So, in Gary’s view, if they could locate the man known as al-Kuwaiti, there was a chance he would lead them to bin Laden.

Gary looked at Panetta, Morell, and Bash. He could tell they were following every word. He explained that after years of painstaking detective work, the CIA in 2007 discovered al-Kuwaiti’s real name: Ibrahim Saeed Ahmed. He was a Pakistani man who was born in Kuwait and took on a nom de guerre when he joined Al Qaeda. Now, with al-Kuwaiti’s real family name, CIA operatives were able to track down people close to him in Pakistan and beyond and intercept their telephone calls and emails. They looked for any bit of information, any clue that could lead them to al-Kuwaiti.

But Gary said every lead turned out to be a dead end—until June of 2010, just two months ago. That’s when they intercepted a telephone conversation between al-Kuwaiti and another suspected terrorist under U.S. surveillance. From that call, the CIA was able to get al-Kuwaiti’s mobile phone number, and trace the call to Peshawar, a major city in western Pakistan.

While they had his number and monitored his calls, they still didn’t know where al-Kuwaiti lived. He was wily. He practiced strict operational security. After making a call from Peshawar, he’d turn off his cell phone and remove the battery so he couldn’t be tracked.

They didn’t think he lived in Peshawar. But if they could find him there, in a city of two million people, they could come up with a way to track him back to his home. And that’s what happened.

In August, they followed his phone signal and spotted al-Kuwaiti driving a white Suzuki Jimny, a mini sport utility vehicle with a picture of a rhinoceros on the spare-tire cover. But instead of following directly behind him, they placed people at key positions along the roads leading out of Peshawar. They watched as he passed. And if he didn’t drive by, they knew he had turned off and taken other roads. The next time, they’d place agents at locations along those side streets. It was a slow and tedious process, but it worked.

They eventually tracked him ninety-five miles east to Abbottabad, the home of a military academy known as Pakistan’s West Point. With its lush scenery and proximity to the Himalayas, the city was a popular summer resort.

Afraid that al-Kuwaiti would see them, the agents didn’t tail him to his house. But they continued to monitor his calls, and they soon discovered that he was secretive about every aspect of his life.

During one call between al-Kuwaiti and an old friend, another piece of the puzzle fell into place. The friend asked al-Kuwaiti a series of innocuous questions: Where did he live now? What’s going on with his life? Al-Kuwaiti was vague. When his friend asked what he was doing for work, he reluctantly responded: “I’m with the same ones as before.”

There was a pause, as if his friend already knew what al-Kuwaiti’s words meant. He was still working for Al Qaeda.

“May Allah be with you,” the friend responded.

At that point, Gary said their surveillance picked up pace. A few days later, agents tracked al-Kuwaiti to a dead-end street in an upscale neighborhood in Abbottabad. And then, there it was at the end of the street—a three-story house with twelve-foot-high concrete walls in the front, eighteen-foot-high walls in the back. The third-floor balcony was enclosed inside a seven-foot wall. The perimeter bristled with barbed wire. It was more than a house, Gary said. “It’s a fortress.”

Panetta’s ears pricked up. After all these years, could this really be bin Laden’s hideout? Was he really living in suburbia? The CIA director was stunned.

Panetta was a larger than life figure with big Italian emotions and gestures. When he thought something was funny, his laugh came straight from his gut. He liked to greet friends with big hugs. More important in the world of Washington, Panetta was a highly effective and shrewd bureaucrat who got things done. He was the ultimate D.C. insider, with friends on both sides of the aisle. Over the years, Panetta had been an influential congressman, President Bill Clinton’s chief of staff, and now President Obama’s CIA director. He was never tainted by scandal. And the sometimes fiery director was never at a loss for words, either—especially four-letter ones. But now he didn’t know what to say. This was totally unexpected.

While Panetta thought about the possibilities, Gary reached into a folder and pulled out satellite images of the compound. He handed copies to Panetta and the others. As they stared at the pictures, the officers told them what else they knew.
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Al-Kuwaiti lived in the compound, which was much larger than any of the surrounding homes. It was so large, secluded, and secure, they believed al-Kuwaiti was sheltering a high-value target—but they didn’t know for sure. There was no way to see inside the house from the ground or from above. The windows were made of an opaque material.

Of all the things in the surveillance photos, Panetta’s eyes kept coming back to the balcony on the third floor, which was shielded by a privacy wall. The whole purpose of a balcony is to stand outside and soak in the view. That was especially true in Abbottabad, which was called the City of Pines because of all the trees.

Who puts a privacy wall around a balcony? Panetta asked. But he already knew the answer. So did Morell, his chief deputy, who purposely sat at the other end of the conference table from Panetta at most meetings so he could inconspicuously watch the staff’s reaction to the director’s comments. By now, the information made the hair on the back of Morell’s neck stand up. No one stated the obvious—the name was never mentioned. But they were all thinking the same thing: The wall was erected to protect someone very important. Maybe, someone like bin Laden.

Panetta didn’t want to get too far ahead of himself. Yes, it was a compound, but so what? It didn’t prove bin Laden lived there. It could be another high-value terrorist or a crime lord. Who knows? They needed proof. This compound was in Pakistan, a sovereign nation. They couldn’t just knock on the door. No, they had to be sure before they could do anything.

And there was something else. Just two months earlier, Panetta had been pressed on ABC News about bin Laden. What was the United States doing to find him? Panetta said that the last time the CIA had “precise information” on bin Laden was “the early 2000s.”

“He is, as is obvious, in very deep hiding. He’s in the tribal areas of Pakistan. The terrain is probably the most difficult in the world,” Panetta said. “If we keep that pressure on, we think ultimately we can flush him out.”

If bin Laden was in the Abbottabad fortress, the CIA had been wrong all along, he thought. He wasn’t going to focus on the negative. They had this new lead, the best in a long time. And as much as he wanted to alert President Obama, he knew he couldn’t tell him yet. They had to dig deeper, look closer.

“We need to know more—a lot more,” Panetta said. “It requires deeper investigation. I want every possible operational avenue explored to get inside the compound.”

But Panetta knew that would be easier said than done.






COUNTDOWN: 236 DAYS


September 7, 2010

Virginia Beach, Virginia

Robert O’Neill checked off the last item on his list. He had finished with his power of attorney, updating his will and life insurance. There were a few weeks to go before his deployment to Afghanistan, but he knew it was never too early to take care of business.

O’Neill was a details guy. He was that way about everything in his life. If he did things the right way and worked hard, he could handle any situation.

So far, it had worked. He was thirty-three years old, a fifteen-year member of the U.S. Navy’s Sea, Air and Land Forces, an old man in the elite unit. Sure, he wasn’t as young as the fresh-faced “Meats” who’d just completed intense SEAL training, but that didn’t matter. He still kept up. Besides, he didn’t look his age. He was a badass.

O’Neill was six feet tall, two hundred pounds, with the barrel chest and thick arms and legs characteristic of most SEALs, but his blue eyes and reddish-blond hair gave him a baby-faced charm. He was outgoing, funny, charismatic, a natural-born leader.

He was going to need it all on his next deployment. He was headed to Afghanistan again, this time as a team leader. He’d probably spend most of his time at a base in Jalalabad, monitoring missions instead of hunting bad guys in the middle of the night. After years of life-threatening operations, maybe that wasn’t such a bad thing. But O’Neill knew he’d miss the action.

He leaned back in his chair and sighed. It was late. His wife and little girls were asleep in the next room. He had reached a point in his life where saying goodbye to them had become routine. Hell, this was his seventh deployment in five years. When he enlisted back in 1995, he had never heard of bin Laden, or Al Qaeda. Afghanistan? Wasn’t that where Sylvester Stallone fought the bad guys in Rambo III?

O’Neill considered himself a simple kid from Butte, Montana, a mining town in the shadow of the Rocky Mountains. His parents divorced when Rob was six. The four children lived with their mom and enjoyed an idyllic childhood, playing outdoors with neighborhood friends. They acted out scenes from 1980s action movies, ambushing one another with toy guns, leaping off rooftops like ninja warriors chasing the bad guys.

His father, Tom, lived nearby and spent as much time as he could with his children. The elementary school had an outside basketball hoop, and Rob spent hours there, shooting jump shots and free throws. His father encouraged his interest in the game. During basketball season, Tom picked up his son after school and took him to a sports club in downtown Butte, where he taught him to dribble, shoot, and pass. They did layup drills and played pickup games with other members. They always ended their on-court session with a free-throw contest.

No one could leave the gym until they hit a certain number of foul shots in a row. First it was 20 in a row. That was easy. Then they’d work their way up, until Rob set his record of 105 free throws in a row. After practice, father and son went out for steaks. Young Rob eventually won a spot on his high school basketball team.

Like many Montana dads, Tom O’Neill also took his boy hunting for deer and elk in the steep mountains surrounding Butte. On a hunting trip in 1994, just after Rob’s eighteenth birthday, his father introduced him to Jim, a Navy SEAL home on leave.

Rob was impressed by Jim’s quiet confidence. A friend that week had dropped Jim off in the mountains, and he’d spent three days out there, tracking deer and elk for the upcoming hunting season. He’d found a great spot, a “honey hole,” he said. Did Rob want to see the lookout?

The next morning, they drove in the pre-dawn dark up into the mountains and parked in a secluded area well off the road. “We’ll have to walk in from here,” Jim said. “It’s about a mile, uphill. You up for that?” Rob didn’t hesitate.

It was a sheer climb through heavy brush. Rob had to push hard to keep up. His lungs burned, but he wasn’t going to stop.

When they reached the peak, they spotted about forty elk. They didn’t shoot any. Rob tried not to wheeze.

“That was a helluva climb,” Jim said. “You ought to think about joining the SEALs, O’Neill.”

Rob smiled, flattered. But he wasn’t ready to join the military. Not yet.

When Rob graduated high school, he enrolled at Montana Technological University. After a couple of semesters, he realized he wanted something more. He took Jim’s advice and enlisted in the U.S. Navy. He wanted to become a SEAL. But before he could even qualify for a tryout with the Navy’s special operators, he had to learn something. How to swim. Up until that point in his life, there had been no need to. He’d spent most of his time on land. It wasn’t like he lived by an ocean or a big lake.

He signed a deferred enrollment, which gave him six months to get into top physical shape before he reported to boot camp. Every morning, he’d swim laps at the community college pool. He struggled until he ran into a high school friend who’d won a swimming scholarship to the University of Notre Dame. The friend took O’Neill under his wing and showed him basic swimming techniques.

O’Neill quickly got into a routine. He’d swim, then strap on his joggers and run rings around Butte. At home, he practiced on a pull-up bar in a doorway. He’d crank up Guns N’ Roses’ Use Your Illusion to motivate himself, and he’d pull himself up, over and over. He felt himself getting stronger. His dad was proud of him, and his mother supported his decision.

The entire family gathered at Butte’s Bert Mooney Airport on a cold January night in 1996 to see him off on his boot-camp adventure. But O’Neill wondered if he could survive the SEAL training. He was a bundle of nerves by the time he arrived at Recruit Training Command Great Lakes in Chicago.

He knew all the steps he’d have to take to make it into and then graduate from the Basic Underwater Demolition/SEAL training, or BUD/S. First, O’Neill had to pass a punishing physical screening just to qualify. He was one of only a handful of recruits in his class who aced the screening. Then, O’Neill moved on to the twenty-six-week SEAL tryout. Nothing could have prepared him for the physical and mental hell that followed. The weeks passed in a blur of running, swimming, calisthenics, obstacle courses, classroom training, and high-decibel harangues from the instructors anytime he missed a beat.

There were times when he was so beaten down and tired that he felt like giving up. But something inside told him to go on, that quitting was out of the question. Not even Hell Week—a punishing 120 hours of nonstop chaos, when instructors pushed the recruits to the brink, twenty hours a day, no sleep. Instructors barked orders: push-ups in the sand; run; crawl through the dunes on your belly; jump headlong, fully clothed, into the surf. It went on and on and on. O’Neill was delirious, cold, wet, exhausted, always hurting.

But again, he made it. At the end of 1996, O’Neill graduated BUD/S as a special warfare operator. He joined SEAL Team 2 in Virginia Beach. He passed his final exams, pinned his gold Trident insignia on his lapel, and was deployed to Kosovo.

SEALs hadn’t seen any real action since the invasion of Panama in 1989. But that would change soon. O’Neill’s team was stationed in Germany. Early one afternoon, he was sitting in a GI bar, the television was tuned to CNN. There he watched as a plane crashed into one of the World Trade Center towers in New York. The room fell silent, stunned as another plane hit the other tower. “Osama bin Laden,” someone said. “This is Al Qaeda. We’re under attack.”
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O’Neill felt his life shift in a moment—terrorism on American soil. He was itching to get into the fight. He prayed for the chance to find and bring bin Laden to justice. It would be years before he joined the battle. But he took steps along the way to ensure that when he did, he’d be in the thick of the action.

After Germany, O’Neill was deployed to the Mediterranean. No action there, but he applied for the United States Naval Special Warfare Development Group (DEVGRU)—better known as SEAL Team 6. They were the best of the best, the guys who went on the toughest and most dangerous missions.

When O’Neill returned to Virginia in 2004, he was invited to try out for the Green Team, the nine-month selection and training course that was the pipeline for SEAL Team 6. He knew if he could make it through the training, he’d be drafted by one of the team’s six squadrons.

All the candidates were seasoned SEALs. The instructors knew they could handle the physical aspect. So part of the training focused on whether they were “psychologically fit”—able to function at high levels under the harshest conditions. They wanted to know if you had what it takes to handle yourself, alone, trapped behind enemy lines, being chased by gun-toting insurgents. O’Neill also learned intricate and dangerous skydiving techniques, and trained for close-quarters battles, how to enter buildings occupied by armed and hostile enemies, often complicated by the presence of unarmed civilians. O’Neill thrived. After nine months, he made it. He was headed for Iraq, or maybe Afghanistan.

While O’Neill waited in Virginia for his orders, his younger sister Kelley called him up for counsel. She had just escaped a bad relationship and wanted to start over someplace far from Butte. O’Neill took a few days off, flew to Montana, fixed his sister’s car, and thirty-six hours later they were back in Virginia Beach.

Kelley moved into her brother’s spare room and found work at a local sports bar. When her brother stopped in at the pub to say hello, he spotted a cute blonde waitress named Amber. They were married a year and a half later, just before he was sent to Afghanistan in April 2005. It was O’Neill’s first deployment to a war zone, but it wouldn’t be his last. The United States was fighting wars in two nations, running short on troops, so as soon as O’Neill finished one tour of duty, he was assigned to another.

During multiple deployments, SEAL Team 6 was in the middle of the action. Over time, O’Neill went out on hundreds of missions, striking at the heart of suspected Al Qaeda terrorist positions. He learned to fight in the shadows, using his night-vision goggles to hunt the bad guys. O’Neill discovered that combat wasn’t as bad as he’d feared. He was able to keep his shit together and make critical decisions in the middle of firefights.

And that served him well in early June 2008, when he led a small team on a dangerous mission in a remote mountainous area near the Pakistan border. Intelligence reports showed that insurgents were crossing into Afghanistan and hitting targets near Asadabad, a flyspeck on the valley floor. The fighters were led by Zabit Jalil, a Taliban leader who had orchestrated a deadly ambush on a SEAL recon team in June 2005.

O’Neill carefully planned the mission: Helos would carry him, three other SEALs, and forty Afghan soldiers at night to an area at the base of a mountain. Then before dawn they’d hike to the top, where they’d have a clear view of the border. O’Neill hoped the insurgents would see them and attack. Once they did, his team would call in artillery and air support to take out the enemy.

But things didn’t go as planned. As soon as the sun came up, O’Neill could see activity near a makeshift checkpoint on the Pakistani side of the border, about a half mile from his position. As the morning went on, he glimpsed truckloads of men approaching the checkpoint. O’Neill shook his head in disbelief. He realized they were in the middle of an Al Qaeda and Taliban supply line. Then, without warning, hundreds of hostile troops attacked. O’Neill quickly discovered the insurgents were right on top of his squad. How close? He didn’t know the exact distance. But they were so close he could hear them shouting, “Allahu Akbar”—“God is great.”

Enemy rounds kicked up the dirt in front of him. At one point, he thought he was going to die. But O’Neill stayed calm and called in air strikes. When the bombs dropped, the insurgents fled back to the checkpoint. O’Neill knew they probably thought they were safe since they were inside Pakistan. But O’Neill was relentless. He ordered U.S. bombers to hit the area. When they did, everything around the checkpoint was destroyed.

The firing stopped, then two helicopters swooped in and extracted O’Neill’s team. He’d later find out that Jalil had been seriously wounded. It was the worst combat O’Neill had faced. He tried to push it out of his mind, but it was hard to forget.

When he returned to the United States, he was awarded the Silver Star. He flew his parents in for the ceremony. It was a proud moment. When he joined the navy, his mother worried about him being killed or wounded. He’d comfort her by saying, “Mom, stop worrying. I’m here to do something special.”

But at the ceremony, when she heard details of the mission, she was more worried than ever about his safety. He was in more danger than she could imagine. She was frantic about her son. So, to calm her down, he promised to stay out of harm’s way. “I’ll never get another Silver Star again. That’s the last time,” he whispered.

But tonight, in his living room, O’Neill knew it might be difficult to stay out of trouble. Almost a decade after a U.S.-led coalition invaded the country, Afghanistan was still a mess. The Taliban was resurgent in the south, and Al Qaeda fighters continued to cross into Afghanistan from safe havens in Pakistan. It was unlikely O’Neill would be in the field during his deployment, but he couldn’t rule it out, either. No, not when SEALs were still hunting high-value targets. O’Neill sighed. He wished he hadn’t made that promise to his mother.






COUNTDOWN: 233 DAYS


September 10, 2010

Washington, D.C.

President Obama waited for Panetta to arrive in the Oval Office. The CIA director had requested a meeting, saying he had an important new development in the search for Osama bin Laden. Obama wondered what Panetta wanted to share. Even with the best intelligence in the world—the most sophisticated tracking equipment—Obama knew the trail for bin Laden had gone cold.

Seven members of the president’s national security team, including deputy national security advisor Tom Donilon and White House counterterrorism chief John Brennan, waited with the president for the briefing in the newly redecorated Oval Office. Paperhangers had just finished putting up light beige striped wallpaper. Along with a pair of new caramel-colored couches with black and brown throw pillows, it gave the room more of an informal feel than it had had with Obama’s predecessor.

With portraits of presidents Abraham Lincoln and George Washington on the walls, the Oval Office was a comfortable place for Obama to hold detailed meetings with top advisors, to read, or to think about important issues. And bin Laden was one subject that was never far from the president’s mind—especially now, one day before the ninth anniversary of 9/11.

At a news conference earlier in the day in the East Room, Obama had wanted to focus on economic issues. Rows of newspaper and television reporters were ready as the president moved to a lectern with the presidential seal. Before taking questions, Obama said he wanted to “talk a little bit about our continuing efforts to dig ourselves out of this recession and to grow our economy.”

But as soon as he finished, the first questions were about bin Laden. A journalist reminded Obama that he had promised to “run a smarter war on terror” than Bush. “But you still haven’t captured him, and you don’t seem to know where he is,” the reporter said.

Obama tried to deflect the question, saying killing bin Laden “wouldn’t solve all our problems.” But he said it did remain “a high priority of this administration.”

“We have the best minds, the best intelligence officers, the best special forces, who are thinking about this day and night. And they will continue to think about it day and night as long as I’m president,” Obama said.

What the president didn’t disclose was that he had been pushing Panetta for more than a year to find bin Laden. The public didn’t know that bringing the terrorist leader to justice was one of Obama’s top priorities. For many, that would seem to run counter to his public image. So many people believed that Obama was a dove. He wasn’t. The misperception could be traced to a speech Obama made years earlier at an antiwar rally.

After the United States drove the Taliban and Al Qaeda from power in Afghanistan, President Bush began making the case for invading Iraq. But Obama, then a state senator from Illinois, decided to speak out. At an October 2002 protest in Chicago’s Federal Plaza, he made his position clear. “I don’t oppose all wars…. What I am opposed to is a dumb war.” He said the Iraq conflict was being pushed by “political hacks” to distract the nation from major problems. The text of the speech was circulated on the internet, where he came to the attention of Democratic Party strategists.

But people who believed that Obama was some kind of reflexive antiwar activist weren’t paying attention. During the 2008 presidential campaign, he had staked out a hard-line foreign policy position. In the Democratic presidential primaries, Obama said he’d be willing to attack inside Pakistan—with or without approval from the Pakistani government—to kill bin Laden and other top Al Qaeda leaders. His main rival for the Democratic nomination, Hillary Rodham Clinton, labeled Obama naïve. After Obama landed his party’s nomination, the Clinton attack line was picked up by Republican presidential candidate John McCain.

But Obama didn’t back down. During a debate with McCain, Obama vowed once again to take out bin Laden if he ever appeared in America’s crosshairs, no matter where he was—Afghanistan, Pakistan, or Timbuktu.

“If we have Osama bin Laden in our sights and the Pakistani government is unable or unwilling” to do it, the United States would, Obama promised. But he wasn’t finished. No, Obama wanted to make it clear to the American people what he’d do: “We will kill bin Laden; we will crush Al Qaeda. That has to be our highest national security priority.”

That statement seemed to be more aligned with a military hawk than a candidate who had been running as an ambassador of hope and optimism. So, when Obama was elected, some wondered if he’d really follow through with his campaign promise to get bin Laden. His top advisors didn’t have to wait long for an answer.

After Obama’s inauguration in January 2009, he quickly discovered that no one had a clue where bin Laden was hiding. Yes, the intelligence community was still pursuing every lead it could find. But to Obama, it seemed that capturing bin Laden was no longer their top priority. So the new president wanted to give his team a push. After a national security briefing on May 26, 2009, Obama asked four officials to meet with him: Panetta, Donilon, Rahm Emanuel (his White House chief of staff), and Michael Leiter (director of the U.S. National Counterterrorism Center). They followed the president up a flight of stairs from the Situation Room in the West Wing basement to the Oval Office.

Obama said he’d be quick. He’d been thinking about bin Laden, and now that he’d settled into the presidency, he wanted the intelligence community to reprioritize. It was time to root out the elusive terrorist.

“I want bin Laden to come to the front of the line. This has to be a top priority. I want regular reports on this. Starting in thirty days,” Obama said.

Obama knew there was no way the United States—even with its overwhelming military force—could truly defeat Al Qaeda as long as bin Laden was alive. He remained the terror group’s spiritual leader, a godlike figure. Just when everyone thought he must be dead, there he was in a new video, with a camouflage jacket over his flowing white robe, clutching his trusty AK-47 and spewing anti-American messages from behind a bushy salt-and-pepper beard. With every video he released, every time he thumbed his nose at America, he gained more followers.

To follow up, Obama sent a memo to Panetta, giving the CIA director thirty days to come up with a detailed plan to locate and target bin Laden. And Panetta started meeting with his bin Laden team at 4:30 every Tuesday afternoon, pressing for new leads. At the end of every national security meeting, Obama turned to him and asked, “Are we any closer?” But so far, Panetta never had anything new to report.
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President Barack Obama in the Oval Office with White House Chief of Staff Bill Daley and Director for Counterterrorism for the National Security Council Audrey Tomason.



Now that would change. Panetta walked into the Oval Office with Morell, Mike, Gary, and Sam. They sat down on the couches and greeted the others in the room. The CIA director was prepared. He had spent the last few days reviewing every relevant intelligence report and satellite photo. He’d discussed the information with his key people until they all were dreaming about that fortress at night.

Panetta told the president and members of his national security team they had tracked someone “who used to be—and could still be—one of bin Laden’s couriers” to a house in Abbottabad, Pakistan. “If that’s the case, we’re hopeful that he can lead us to bin Laden.” Gary and Sam handed out satellite images of the compound to everyone in the room.

As Obama stared at the images, Gary and Sam walked the commander in chief through the history of the lead, much the same way they’d done a few weeks earlier in Panetta’s office. In the days leading up to this meeting, Gary and Sam had worked a total of fifteen hours writing and rehearsing what they’d say, getting their language just right and highlighting the key points. They had delivered their briefing for Panetta, then gone back to their offices to edit their presentation and practice again. They had been told they had seven minutes to tell Obama what they’d found.

So, on script, they recounted the CIA’s interest in couriers, how they believed early on that they might be one way to track down bin Laden. They described the compound and then went over some new intelligence they had discovered more recently. They explained that the courier, his brother, and their families lived in the fortress. The brothers were tall, fair-skinned, and bearded. They looked like everyone else in the neighborhood. No one knew what the brothers did for a living. And the families almost never left the compound. Not to attend the local religious school. Not to visit a doctor. There were no signs of internet access or telephone lines running to the compound.

The compound was segmented so it was difficult to move from one part of the property to another. It was a challenge even to get into the place. You had to open one gate to drive in, then get out of the car, close the gate behind you and open a second gate to drive into the main part of the compound. Even though the brothers had no apparent means of support, they’d managed to buy this million-dollar property. Surveillance showed one brother was always at the fortress. If one left, the other always stayed behind. The people inside didn’t put their trash out for collection like everyone else in the neighborhood. Instead, they burned it on-site, in a wide yard where goats were pastured. Through telephone intercepts, the intelligence team discovered that the brothers’ wives were lying to their extended families about where they lived.

Something was going on there. After laying out everything they knew, the CIA briefers said there was a possibility the brothers could be harboring bin Laden.

Panetta jumped in, “Mr. President, it’s very preliminary. But we think this is the best lead we’ve had since Tora Bora,” he said.

Silence. No one in the room wanted to show what they were really thinking. Tony Blinken, Vice President Joe Biden’s national security advisor, was skeptical. Yes, it wouldn’t have been brought to the president’s attention if there wasn’t something there. But they’d had so many false leads over the years, it was hard to take this too seriously. Donilon was impressed. Panetta and his team were “quite careful” about what they knew and what they didn’t know. Maybe there was something to this.

Obama, as usual, showed no emotion. He was calm and collected, and clearly interested, but there were too many “maybes,” he said. Couldn’t the brothers be protecting a powerful criminal? Maybe a different high-ranking Al Qaeda figure?

Obama’s poker face didn’t bother Morell. He’d worked with the president long enough to know he didn’t bark orders or blurt out his thoughts. He usually deliberated at length before making any decision. But that day, sitting behind his desk, Obama surprised Morell. The president was very direct and clear.

“Number one, Leon, Michael, find out what the hell is going on inside the compound,” Obama said. “And number two: don’t tell anybody else. This is known only by us. Don’t tell the secretary of state. Don’t tell the secretary of defense. Don’t tell the chairman of the Joint Chiefs…. This is just us for now.”

The president got it, Morell thought to himself. He knew there was enough there to move forward. They had to get more information and get it back to him quickly. Morell knew that would be difficult. He just didn’t know how difficult and dangerous it would prove to be.






COUNTDOWN: 232 DAYS


September 11, 2010

Somewhere in the Adirondack Mountains

The leaves crunched under Jessica Ferenczy’s feet as she trekked along the grassy path to the river. She could see the water glistening in the distance, through the trunks of the oaks and maples. Another quarter mile and she’d be there, at their special spot.

Ferenczy was tired. After she’d finished her evening shift, she’d headed back to the 115th Police Precinct in the New York City borough of Queens. She’d quickly changed into civilian clothes, jumped into her Jeep Cherokee, and by midnight, she was headed north on the New York State Thruway. Three hours later, she let herself into her little cabin in the Adirondack Mountains. It was the early hours of the morning. She tried to sleep, but she couldn’t relax.

She made coffee. She sat quietly in the kitchen, jotting down her thoughts in a spiral-bound notebook. At dawn, the birds began to sing outside. Jessica stopped writing and stared out the window. A bright pastel sunup painted the sky. When the early mist burned away, she picked up her paper and a pen and headed out to the river.

She walked with thoughts worn smooth by nine years of repetition. This place was hers, the cabin and seventy acres of trees and wilderness and riverbank. This was supposed to be their place. Jerome should be here with her. They should be together. But Jerome Dominguez, the love of her life, was gone forever. She would never see him again.

Ferenczy reached the river’s edge and sat down in a sturdy wooden lawn chair by the fire pit. She pulled her mobile phone from her pocket and shut it off. No interruptions. This was her time.

It would be sunny and warm today, much like it was on the morning of September 11, 2001. She leaned back and shut her eyes and let herself feel how broken she still was.

She could still see his handsome face. Dominguez was a buff Spanish-American with a magnetic smile and personality. For two years, he was part of the NYPD’s Emergency Service Unit, an elite squad that responded to all kinds of crises. Before that, he was an NYPD Highway Patrol officer. He was a saver of lives. Over his fifteen-year career, Dominguez had stopped suicides, rescued hostages, and extricated people trapped in wrecked cars.

He was a real-life Batman. He kept tools in his car, just in case he needed to help stalled drivers or assist at an accident scene. He was also a member of the New York Air National Guard’s 105th Security Squadron.

Dominguez was never off duty. In 1999, on his way to an air force base in Texas for a Guard training session, he saw a school bus overturn on a rural road. He stopped at the scene and quickly took charge, pulling a dozen kids to safety just before the bus burst into flames. The rescue was written up in local newspapers. A TV station did a segment for the evening news, but Dominguez was reluctant to take any credit. He said he’d only done what was needed, nothing more.

When he worked at the NYPD Highway Patrol, he usually arrived to emergency calls on his Harley-Davidson Road King. He was dashing. Six feet tall, 205 pounds, with brown hair in a high-and-tight military shave, brown eyes with hazel around the edges, a barrel chest, and thick muscular arms. But it was his smile, with a little dimple on his left cheek, that was so disarming.

Ferenczy smiled in her chair.

Jerome was outgoing, sweet, a gentle guy who could charm anyone, especially women. His black leather jacket completed the picture…. He looked like he’d stepped off the pages of an entertainment magazine.

That leather jacket! He was wearing it the night they met, December 19, 1998. Back then, she was a police officer in the 30th Precinct in Harlem, a predominantly black neighborhood in upper Manhattan. She had volunteered to help with the precinct’s annual community Christmas party.

They’d arranged to treat the kids to visits with officers from special NYPD units. The mounted patrol was bringing a horse, and a bomb squad guy was showing off an explosives-sniffing dog and a little robot that disabled suspicious devices. They’d finish up with the Highway Patrol motorcycle cop and his Harley chopper.

When the special units showed up in the parking lot, Ferenczy’s job was to escort the kids outside to snap Polaroids of them with the officers. But the night was bitterly cold, with temperatures in the teens, and a windchill that made it feel like single digits.

Ferenczy shuffled the kids back and forth from the precinct’s muster room to the parking lot, getting colder with each passing minute. It got so bad they decided to send home the animals and take pictures inside with the robot, so no one would get frostbite.

While Ferenczy was loading more film into her camera, someone said they heard a motorcycle pulling into the parking lot. That poor biker cop! They’d forgotten to call him off.

Thinking she’d only be in the parking lot for a minute, she ran outside in just a T-shirt and jeans, leaving jacket, hat, and gloves inside. She stepped out into an Arctic blast.

“Holy shit,” she muttered, her breath emerging like a cloud. She’d have to make this quick.

She saw the taillight of a police motorcycle. The guy’s back was turned to her. Ferenczy was so cold she ran up behind the policeman and snuggled against him for warmth. She still hadn’t seen his face… he could have been anybody! As her face grazed his left shoulder, she noticed something wonderful. He smelled perfect: a mixture of soap, motorcycle exhaust, and campfire smoke.

She didn’t know why, but she blurted out, “Hmmm… Is this my Christmas present?”

“Yes, I am,” he responded. He never missed a beat.

From that moment on, they never spent a day apart.

They came from different worlds.

Ferenczy’s father, Arpad, grew up in rural Hungary during World War II and emigrated to the United States in 1956. He ended up in New York City, got married, had two daughters, and settled on Long Island, New York. His marriage didn’t last long.

Ferenczy had a special bond with her father. He taught her how to fish and work with tools. He took her on road trips, sleeping in tents in state parks. Jessica was self-sufficient, independent, and dependable.

She didn’t know what she wanted to do after high school. She drifted from job to job, and finally decided to take the NYPD entrance exam. Why not? Being a cop meant good money and benefits. She was twenty-five when she graduated from the police academy in 1993.
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While she’d had some boyfriends, she didn’t consider herself a “girly” kind of woman. Ferenczy adapted to the masculine culture around her. She worked out and had muscular shoulders and arms. She shaved the sides of her blonde hair into a mohawk.

Meanwhile, Dominguez came from a distinguished family. His father, Jeronimo, was a doctor, a devout Roman Catholic with a successful medical practice. The family lived in the Pelham Bay Park section of the Bronx, in a waterfront home that was once a fishing retreat for legendary New York City Mayor Fiorello La Guardia.

Dominguez and his brother, Frank, had a wonderful childhood. They always had friends in their house, playing war games and swimming, jumping from their porch into the water of Long Island Sound. And one day, young Jerome saved his brother’s life.

Frank suddenly fell into a seizure, and Jerome recognized that his brother was in trouble. He bolted upstairs and told his mother, who called an ambulance. From that moment on, Jerome knew what he wanted to do for a living: help people in trouble.

After graduating high school, he entered the police academy. He graduated in 1985, and two years later, enlisted in the Air Force National Guard.

For a long time, Dominguez struggled with his weight, once ballooning to almost three hundred pounds. He realized he had to change his lifestyle or he’d face serious health issues. One day he began running, and he didn’t stop. He hit the gym and started training with weights. When he showed up at Ferenczy’s precinct that night, he was a hunk. When the pair came in from the cold, Jessica’s friends noticed the goofy look on her face. She was smitten with the motorcycle cop.

After the Christmas party ended and everyone went home, Dominguez called Ferenczy on the phone. They talked for hours. Jessica had to work the next day, a Sunday, but Jerome knew she was off the following day. He called her on Monday morning.

“Can I come over for breakfast?” he asked.

“Come on over,” she said.

She hung up and rushed around her tiny apartment in Lindenhurst, Suffolk County, trying to straighten up. She left the door unlocked so Dominguez could just walk in when he arrived.

Ferenczy was washing dishes when he showed up. Their eyes met. She had an odd feeling, like he was supposed to be there. Like he had walked through that door a hundred times before.

Dominguez dropped his keys on the kitchen counter, walked to her, put both hands on her face, and kissed her. Ferenczy let go of the dishes. It wasn’t like the kiss was super-exciting or lusty. It wasn’t like she had been hit by lightning. No, it was more like she had been kissing this man her whole life. It was a perfect fit.

It was like that for just about everything in their relationship. They even joked about it.

“I’m going to find you sooner in our next life,” she’d say.

He felt the same way. Dominguez said they’d been together in a past life, but somehow got separated. And every time they found each other, something happened to tear them apart. Until now.

They moved in together and subsequently bought a house on Long Island. Dominguez wanted to get married in a big church ceremony at Saint Patrick’s Cathedral in Manhattan, but he had been married years before. The relationship ended in divorce. In order to marry in a Catholic church, he had to have his first marriage annulled—which he promised to do.

Meanwhile, Dominguez introduced Ferenczy to his parents and brother, and they treated her like family. When they had started dating, she took him to her favorite campground, a secluded place north of New York City where she’d sleep under the stars. He loved the outdoors, and soon that became their spot, their getaway, a place where they could talk and laugh under the stars, a place where they could discuss their future.

Dominguez said he wanted to retire after twenty years on the force and set up a training center for police officers and military personnel. It would have to be well outside the city, deep in the mountains, he said. Ferenczy loved the idea. They started to save money.

On July 6, 1999, her birthday, the couple headed to their state park. They walked into the woods and found a convenient rock on the riverbank. Under the moonlight, they made their vows. They promised to love and honor each other, and to look out for each other’s parents. They exchanged rings. An official ceremony would come later, but for all intents and purposes, they were married.

When they returned to the city, they told everyone about their ceremony. They continued their journey together. They saved, enjoyed family and friends, laughed, made love, bought their first house. Everything seemed perfect. They complemented each other’s strengths and shortfalls. He liked to spend money; she was the saver, the one who paid the bills on time. He lived life to the fullest, riding motorcycles, scuba diving—“go big or go home,” he’d say. She was more grounded. “You have to think things out first, and plan for the future,” she’d say.

They planned a camping trip for the weekend of September 7, 2001. Just before they left the house, Dominguez went to check the mail. The letter had arrived at last: The diocese had granted the annulment. Thrilled, he hugged Ferenczy and called his parents. They’d tie the knot officially on December 19, 2001—the third anniversary of their frigid meeting in the precinct parking lot.

They spent the weekend at their favorite campsite, worked on the guest list for their wedding. Saturday and Sunday passed in a haze of swimming, drinking, and suntanning.

Ferenczy spent the following day testifying in a lower Manhattan courtroom, and was called to return the following day. Dominguez said he’d drive her to the precinct, where she could catch a ride to court with another officer. Ferenczy dressed like a professional that day, in a suit, heels, makeup, and earrings. When they arrived at the police station, she leaned over to give Dominguez a kiss goodbye. But he wasn’t having any of that. He held her face with his hands—just like he’d done the first morning they were together—and kissed her long and passionately.

The other officers in the lot rolled their eyes and cheered. “Get a room!” they said. It was all in jest. They were the perfect couple.

After arriving at the courthouse Ferenczy learned she had some time to kill. As she headed for a local deli for some breakfast, she called Dominguez.

“You want to meet me to get something to eat?” she asked him.

Dominguez said yes. He said he and his partner were nearby. “I’ll be there soon,” he said. They talked a little bit longer, then the phone cut out.

Ferenczy noticed a cop up the street was looking up at a building about ten blocks down. “Oh shit,” she mumbled. It was an airliner, flying way too low, headed straight toward the cluster of skyscrapers on the southern tip of Manhattan. The airplane slammed straight into the North Tower—Tower One—of the World Trade Center. Smoke and flames belched outward, debris rained down to the ground.

Ferenczy stood in stunned silence, then opened her phone. There was no signal. At that moment, a million people were doing exactly what she was doing, calling out to their beloveds.

She started to panic. Dominguez was headed in her direction. He probably knew what just happened. Hell, he probably saw it, too. He’s going in there to rescue people, she thought.

Despite her heels and formal clothes, Ferenczy took off running toward the World Trade Center. She passed the courthouse and saw cops dropping their folders with paperwork and other important items on the front steps, turning, and running toward the danger.

Three blocks down, Ferenczy stopped to call Dominguez. She got a signal, but it just kept on ringing. “Come on, pick up!” she said. Then a second plane hit the South Tower. Ferenczy called her police partner, woke him up. “Get your clothes on and head downtown!” she shouted into the phone. She started running again, into the chaos.

Then, just as Ferenczy was ready to run into Tower One, a police lieutenant grabbed her by the arm. “Get back and help secure the courthouse,” he shouted. “Move the prisoners from the cells. No one knows if the city is under attack. We have to get them out of there.”

Under orders, Ferenczy turned back.

The lieutenant saved her life.

Dominguez went to the World Trade Center immediately after the first airplane struck. He was last seen around the twentieth floor of Tower One. His voice was heard on radio dispatches, warning other police not to enter the building because it was unstable.

When the buildings collapsed, Ferenczy knew he was gone. She felt it in her soul.

The rest of the day, and the next few months, passed in a blur. She used up her sick leave and vacation time, but she just couldn’t handle the pain.

A year later, she returned to work at the precinct. The first day, though, she had a panic attack when she and her partner headed into lower Manhattan. She had to stop the car and throw up outside the cruiser.

After so many years of sweet and easy life, her world turned dark and difficult. She and Dominguez had been engaged, they’d lived together and bought a home together, but they were not married, so she had to fight to receive his benefits. She and a group of other survivors battled then Mayor Rudy Giuliani to increase funding for the Twin Towers Fund to help victims’ families.

A year after 9/11, Ferenczy was in Saint Patrick’s Cathedral—not to marry Jerome Dominguez, but to lay him to rest. His parents insisted on the funeral service even though his body was never recovered.

Ferenczy hated bin Laden. And the funeral only reminded her of everything she’d lost. It reminded her of everything others had lost that horrible day—husbands, wives, brothers, sisters, children, friends. She wanted America to bring bin Laden to justice. Go after him, follow every lead, just like a relentless police detective on a murder case.

But sitting inside Saint Patrick’s, she couldn’t dwell on that. She eventually received an insurance benefit and used part of it to buy the Adirondacks property. Life went on, years passed. She still had good friends on the force. But not a day went by where she didn’t mourn for her lost love.

She turned to writing to help ease her pain. Every September 11, December 19 (their anniversary), and April 25 (Dominguez’s birthday), she wrote an online tribute on the “Legacy” web page that carried his obituary.

So today—the ninth anniversary of the day she lost Jerome—on the quiet riverbank, she opened her notebook. She felt responsible for keeping his memory alive, but it seemed like she’d already said everything that needed saying. She wasn’t sure what to compose for his Legacy page. Then it all came flooding back, that first night, the stunning cold.


Today I always try to think about the day we met, rather than the day you kissed me for the last time. I think about the crisp coldness of the air when I first saw you, the sound of the children’s laughter at the Christmas party going on inside. The smell of your leather jacket when you got off the bike. The warmth of your hand when you first held mine. Touching you that first time was… coming home.

I was startled by the clarity of my thoughts, the certainty of my recognition of you. Though we had never met, I knew you. I tried to be funny, cover my surprise with a joke. So I breathed in the scent of you and said “Is this my Christmas present?” and without turning your head—or looking at me, you replied “Yes, I am” and you pulled me tighter to you.

Some hours later, I told my partner that I had just met my husband.

I love you now, as I loved you then… still after all this time, after all that has come to pass, all that has gone since

I love you still, Beloved Boy.

I miss you Husband.

Until we are together again My Love.

Always Your Wife,

Jessie



She smiled. God, how she wished he was there with her. She wanted to talk to him so badly. She’d have to make a decision soon, whether to keep working or retire early. She loved being a cop, but her heart just wasn’t in it anymore. She wanted time to build the cabins, to develop this land, to turn it into a place to honor his memory. She’d need more money to make that happen.

But that was a decision for another day.






COUNTDOWN: 205 DAYS


October 8, 2010

Langley, Virginia

Michael Morell was always busy. The deputy director of the world’s largest intelligence agency was forever on the phone, answering emails, or poring over reports. But since Gary and Sam had told the president about the compound in Abbottabad, the volume of work—and the pressure—had picked up exponentially. It was almost more than one man could juggle.

After all these years of dead ends, they were getting close. Morell could feel it. The hunt for bin Laden was nothing new for him. He’d already been tracking the terrorist for five years before the September 11 attacks.

Morell didn’t draw attention to himself. Unlike Panetta, four-letter words didn’t roll off his tongue. He was quiet and reflective, medium height and thin, with short brown hair parted carefully on the side. His suits and button-down shirts were always neatly pressed, his ties conservative, his glasses oblong and owlish. He could’ve passed for a literature professor at an Ivy League school.

In his early fifties, Morell had decades of experience in the CIA. He was the consummate insider, with the meticulous mind of an analyst. Morell was passionate about his work. He knew everything there was to know about Osama bin Laden. He respected the twisted genius behind his well-timed attacks and fierce ideology. But he despised bin Laden’s offhand dismissal of the deaths of thousands of innocent people. Morell knew that more would die unless the aging terrorist was caught.
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He had spent the weeks since the White House meeting with his case officers and analysts, stringing together as much new information as possible about the compound. They had ramped up intercepts of telephone calls, asked for more satellite photos, set more people on the ground in Abbottabad to discreetly collect information. Their efforts were starting to pay dividends.

They knew now that a third family lived in the “fortress,” and none of them ever left the premises. The neighbors didn’t know there was another family living there. One way the CIA discovered it was by studying those satellite images, and looking at the amount of laundry on the clothesline. And there was another nugget: The brothers owned the house—at least on paper—but the invisible family lived on the top two floors, the best quarters.

The new information didn’t prove bin Laden was there. But if he was, he had been hiding in plain sight. That challenged the CIA’s working hypothesis, the presumption that had guided them for years.

The CIA analyst’s job was to pull together all the evidence and expertise on a given topic and provide an answer to a question a policymaker had asked or should ask. An analyst typically developed a working hypothesis based on intercepts, human intelligence operations, photographs and videos, and other streams of information. That hypothesis then drove further collection of information.

With bin Laden, the questions were: How would he hide? Where? What security would he employ?

For years, everyone assumed he was holed up in the tribal areas in western Pakistan, probably in a cave or a remote area, separated from his family and surrounded by well-armed guards. There was a good chance that his health was failing, and perhaps that he was hooked up to a makeshift kidney dialysis machine.

He would never live in a compound with families. He wouldn’t live in a place with military helicopters flying overhead. He’d have set up layers of defenses around his booby-trapped lair, posted guards, and created tunnels or other elaborate escape routes.

The new lead ran counter to that entire narrative. It suggested that bin Laden was living in a villa in the suburbs with his wives, kids, and two families of retainers. He was residing in a sleepy, picturesque city in the shadow of the Himalaya Mountains. Named for James Abbott, a British officer and administrator, the city was a tourist hub with a military academy and medical school. The streets were filled with cadets, medical students, and retirees who enjoyed the temperate weather and the nature trails leading to the mountains. If bin Laden was living here, then the CIA had been wrong about almost everything, for an awfully long time.

Morell shook his head. His gut told him that bin Laden was in the compound, but he needed more proof, and more time. He couldn’t move too fast. If bin Laden suspected anything, he would slip away like a viper.

That’s why Morell was in his office so late, peering at paperwork. He’d learned early on that you had to keep pushing until you got it right.

Morell grew up in Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio, a blue-collar community outside Cleveland. His father, Joseph, worked at a Chrysler plant, while his mother, Irene, stayed at home.

His father was a perfectionist. He kept an elaborate carpentry shop, and tried to pass along the skill to his son. When young Morell presented his dad with his first birdhouse project, his father inspected it with a critical eye. “It’s not good enough,” he said.

When the boy protested, his father took a hammer and smashed the birdhouse to pieces. “Start over again,” he said.

The second time, when he finished, it was a “near perfect birdhouse.”

That lesson stayed with Morell. When you do something, you do it right. No shortcuts. After high school graduation, Morell attended the University of Akron and majored in economics. He thought he’d go on to graduate school, earn a PhD, and teach economics. But one of his professors suggested he send a résumé to the CIA.

“They hire economists there,” he said.

Morell shrugged. Really? he thought. An economist could be a spy?

“Economics is one of the few academic disciplines that teaches critical thinking,” the professor said. “That’s the top skill needed to be a successful intelligence analyst.”
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